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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

No. CV 13-4302 Sl

FREIDA LEE, on behalf of herself and others =~ ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S

similarly situated, MOTION TO REMAND, DENYING
REQUEST FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES,
Plaintiff, AND REMANDING ACTION TO
v, ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPERIOR
COURT

EQUIFAX INFORMATION SERVICES, LLC;
and DOES 1-50, inclusive,

Defendants.

Plaintiffs have filed a motion to remand this antio state court. The motion is scheduled
a hearing on December 17, 2013. Pursuant to Civil Local Rule 7-1(b), the Court finds this
appropriate for resolution without oral argem, and hereby VACATES the hearing. Hav
considered the arguments of the parties angdbers submitted, and for good cause shown, the ¢

hereby GRANTS plaintiff's motion to remand.

BACKGROUND
On December 18, 2012, plaintiff Frieda Leedile class action lawsuit in Alameda Cou

Superior Court. Docket No. 1, Ex. A-1. The original cofapnt alleged five causes of action, includi

three causes of action for violation of variougie®s of the California Ghsumer Credit Reporting A¢

(“CCRAA") by allowing duplicate account reporting on customer credit reports in violatig

California Civil Code § 1785.14(b), failing to notensumer disputes on customer credit report
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violation of 88 1785.16(g) and 1785.14(b), and failingtovide a timely substantive description
customer requests for a description of the reinvestigation in violation of § 1785.16(d\(4T.he

complaint also alleged unfair business practices and sought declaratory and injunctivddelief

In the original complaint, plaintiff defined tlotass as "California consumers who were suhject

of the acts described in 3, 4, and/or 5 above.’p. 3. Plaintiff further alleged that “class memberg

in each class is in excess of 500d. p. 4. The complaint did not identify a specific amoun

controversy but did allege thap]faintiff and the class have suffered statutory damages. . . per C¢

sections 1785.31(a)(2) and 1785.31(c),” based onndafds’ alleged violations of the CCRA
described the first three causes of actitmh.{. 5-7.

On April 17, 2013, plaintiff fileca second action, separate and independent from the Dec
2012 actiorf. Docket No. 1., Ex. A-49. This second action was based on the assertion in Ed
Answer to the original complairthat what Equifax had provided piaiff was not a consumer or creq
report, but a consumer credit filel. The new complaint stated two sas of action and alleged a cla

action only if necessary for declaratory relidd.
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On July 1, 2013, Equifax filed demurrers for unagny as to each of the complaints, argujng

that neither complaint adequately alleged an asoatike class of plaintifisDocket No. 1, Ex. A-36]|

On August 8, 2013 the two cases were consolidideall purposes undeCivil Action File No.

RG12660482d., Ex. A-40, and on August 9, 2013, the demunnene sustained with leave to amel

Docket No. 1, Ex. A-42. The order instructed plédi to file a single amended complaint cleaf

indicating which causes of action were asserted both individually and on behalf of a putative

On August 26, 2013, plaintiff filed an amended consolidated class action compainEx.
A-45. The amended complaint asserts the same five causes of action as did the original cq
including the three alleging CCRAA violatiohsThe amended complaint adds allegations to

second and third causes of action that defendants also violated § 178%dL5(f).

2 Superior Court of California, Alaeda County, Civil Action File No. RG13675935

® The amended complaint is mis-nunbered, skipfrimm third cause of action to fifth cause
action without listing a fourth cause of action.

2

y

clas

Mp

the

of




United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

© 00 N o g M~ W N PP

N NN N N N N NDND P B P B P P P PP
© N o 00 A W N P O © © N OO o » W N B O

In the amended complaint, the class definition was stated as follows:

[A] class of California consmers to whom Equifax prosded credit reports containing
two or more entries in the negative (heraahainated “Collections”) sections of such
reports or files with substantially duplicadidatafields; and/or California consumers to
whom Equifax provided credit reports de containing entries which the consumers
disputed, but which Equifax ditbt note as disputed in sulgsent credit reports or files;
California consumers who obtained a restigation from Equifax and requested a
description of the reinvestigation procebst none was timely provided; California
consumers who received a description ofrtievestigation process lacking the name,
business address and phone of the furnisir@acted or otherwise was substantially the
same description as plaintiff received; amdleclaratory and injunctive relief regarding
whether California consumewgho receive what Equifax calls a credit file are subject
to laws regulating credit reports; and/or @eatory and injunctive relief as to whether
California consumers who receiwdat Equifax calls a credite comply with what the
law required for credit files, within the period from four years before the complaint was
filed in the case to the present.

Id., p. 7. The amended complaint alleges “classib@ship in each class exceeds 500 peoptk.p.
5. The amended complaint does not identify a spexificunt in controversy but does allege “[p]lain
has suffered actual and plaintiff and the class Baffered statutory damages . . . per CCRAA sect
1785.31(a)(2) and 1785.31(c),” based on defendantgjeallgiolations of the CCRAA described t
first three causes of actiomd. . 8-9.

On September 17, 2013, defendant removed the action to this Court pursuant to 2§
8 1441, asserting jurisdiction under the Class ActiamEas Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d). Docket N

1, Notice of Removal. On Octob®, 2013, plaintiff filed a motion teemand (“Pl.’s Mot.”). Docke

No. 6. Defendants have opposed the motion.

LEGAL STANDARD

Generally, a state court action is only removabliederal court if it might have been broug

there originally. 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a). Under the Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”), “district ¢

shall have original jurisdiction in any civil actiomwhich the matter in controversy exceeds the §
or value of $5,000,000, exclusive of interand costs, and is a class in which . . . any member of g
of plaintiffs is a citizen of a State different fraany defendant.” 28 U.S.@.1332(d)(2). CAFA alsg
provides that “the claims of the individual classmbers shall be aggregated to determine whethe

matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,2D&71332(d)(6). CAFA permits feder
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court jurisdiction where only minimal, rather thammplete, diversity exists; “[s]ection 1332(d) th

abandons the complete diversity rule for covered class actidbsggo Abregp443 F.3d at 680. The

Ninth Circuit has explained that CAFA did nadisturb the traditional allocation of the burden
establishing removal jurisdiction, holding “that under CAFA the burden of establishing re

jurisdiction remains, as before, on the proponent of federal jurisdictidn &t 685;seealsoBrill v.

us

of

MOV

Countrywide Home Loans, In@é27 F.3d 446, 448 (7th Cir. 2005). Where, as here, the complaint do

not plead a specific amount of dagea, “the removing defendant mpsbve by a preponderance of t
evidence that the amount in controversy requirement has beenAbetgo Abrego v. The Dow Che
Co., 443 F.3d 676, 683 (9th Cir. 2006). The federal removal statute is strictly construed, and
courts reject jurisdiction if there isnadoubt as to whether removal was prod@uncan v. Stuetz|g
76 F.3d 1480, 1485 (9th Cir. 1996).

The mechanics and requirements fonogal are governed by 28 U.S.C. § 14K6ixhausen v

BMW Fin. Servs. NA LLG07 F.3d 1136, 1139 (9th Cir. 2013). Smt 1446(b) identifies two thirtyt
day periods for removing a cas€arvalho v. Equifax Info. Servs., L1629 F.3d 876, 885 (9th Cir.

2010). The first thirty-day removal period is triggered if the case stated by the initial plea
removable on its facdd. The second thirty-day removal period is triggered if the initial pleading
not indicate that the case is removable, and the defendant receives a copy of an amended

motion, order or other paper from which removability may first be ascertaided.

DISCUSSION
l. Plaintiff's Motion to Remand
Plaintiff moves to remand this action to steb@rt because defendant’s removal was untim
PI's. Mot. p. 4. Plaintiff argues the initial complgifiled December 18, 2012, triggered the first thif
day period, and that defendant’s removal, filasmine months later on September 17, 2013, wag
beyond the thirty days allotted under § 1446(i). Plaintiff argues that the initial complaint mak
largely the same allegation of class size and rezsextiught as does the amended complaint, an

contents of the initial complaint fully alerted the defendant to removabitity.
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In response, defendant argues that the initial complaint was indeterminate as to remg

because it did not contain a clasfimidon. Def’s. Opp’n p. 8. Theamended complaint, filed Augu

vak

St

26, 2013, does contain an explicit class definitidnp. 8-9, so removability could be ascertained

because the class definition allowed it “to deterrttieecritical CAFA removal requirements of minim

diversity, numerosity, and amount in controversid”

al

“The first thirty-day removal period [under § 148§(is triggered 'if the case stated by the

initial pleading is removable on its faceCarvalhg 629 F.3d at 885. Therefore, the complaint

reveal grounds for removal "affirmatively in the initieading in order for the first thirty day clo¢

under 8§ 1446(b) to begin.'Kuxhausen707 F.3d at 1141. The Ninth Circuit has explained

ust
k
that

“removability under section 1446(b) is determinexbtigh examination of the four corners of {he

applicable pleadings, not through subjective knadg&eor a duty to make a further inquiryfarris
v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co425 F.3d 689, 694 (9th Cir. 2005). Thentki Circuit has specifically hel
that "a defendant does not have a duty of inquiry if the initial pleading or other docuni
‘indeterminate’ with respect to removabilitygbth v. CHA Hollywood Medical Center, L..P20 F.3d
1121, 1125 (9th Cir. 2013) (citinlarris, 425 F.3d at 693-94), and is not required to "suj
information which [plaintiff] has omitted.Kuxhausen707 F.3d at 1141. However, a defendant n
apply areasonable amount of intedligce in ascertaining removabilityl. at 1140. "Multiplying figureg
clearly stated in a complaint is an aspect of that duty.."

The Court finds that, under CAFplaintiff's original complaintvas removable oniits face. T
original complaint alleged that plaintiff is a Calihia citizen and defendaista Georgia corporation
satisfying CAFA's diversity requirement. Not. of Removal, Ex. A-1, p. 1. The original com
alleged that the minimum class membership in edi¢he three classes was in excess of 500 pe
Id., p. 4. These allegations were sufficiensatisfy CAFA's numerosity requiremeisee Kuxhause
707 F.3d at 1140.

In addition, plaintiff's allegations in the origirmplaint about the size of each class toge
with the claims for statutory damages were sidfit to satisfy CAFA's amount in controver
requirement. The Ninth Circuit has explainedttthe CAFA amount in controversy “is simply

estimate of the total amount in dispute, not@spective assessment of defendant's liabilibeivis v.
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Verizon Commc'ns, Ind27 F.3d 395, 397 (9th Cir. 2016&e also McPhail v. Deere & C&29 F.3d

947, 956 (10th Cir. 2008) (“The amount in controvassyot proof of the amount the plaintiff wif

recover. Rather, itis an estimate of the amountihidbe put at issue in the course of the litigation

")

To establish the jurisdictional amount, defendant need not concede liability for the entire amo

Lewis 627 F.3d at 400. In addition, ‘fi amount in controversy for diversity jurisdiction may incliide

punitive damages if recoverable under state IadBvady v. Mercedes-Benz USA, 43 F. Supp. 2d

1004, 1009 (N.D. Cal. 2002). "Where a statutoryimam is specified, courts may consider the

maximum statutory penalty available in determghether the jurisdictional amount in controve

Sy

requirement is met.Korn v. Polo Ralph Lauren Corb36 F. Supp. 2d 1199, 1205 (E.D. Cal. 2008);

see, e.gMorey v. Louis Vuitton N. Am., Inel61l Fed. Appx. 642, 643 (9th Cir. 2011) (“Because|the

amount in controversy could be as much as $1f@0@ach subsequent violation, and it is undispyted

that there were ‘substantially in excess’ of@@redit card transactions, the preponderance of the

evidence shows that the amount in controversy exceeds $5 million.”).

In the original complaint, plaintiff allegettiree causes of action for violation of the CCRAA.

Not. of Removal, Ex. A-1, . 5-7. For each of theauses of action, plaintiff sought statutory damages

for himself and the class under California Civil Code 8§ 1785.31(a)(R).In the case of a willfu

violation, Section 1785.31(a)(2) provides for punittatutory damages "of not less than one hun

red

dollars ($100) nor more than five thousand dollars ($5,000) for each violation as the cour{ det

proper.” In this case, simple multiplication$8,000, the maximum statutory penalty under sedtion

1785.31(a)(2), by 1,500, the total minimum number of class members alleged in the original cdmpl

for the three classes, yields $7,500,000. KSednausen707 F.3d at 885 (stating that a defendant must

multiply figures clearly stated in a complaint). efefore, the face of theiginal complaint satisfied

CAFA's amount in controversy requirement.

Defendant argues that the initial complaint was indeterminate because it failed to cgntai

proper class definition. Def.'s Opp'n at 8-9. Heere defendant fails to explain why a proper cl

ASS

definition was needed to determine removabilitydded, in asserting that the amended complainfwa:s

removable under CAFA, defendant does not relyttenclass definition provided in the amended

pleading to calculate the amount in controveBgfendant simply took the minimum number of cl
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members alleged in the amended complaint and multiplied that number by the maximum s
damages sought in the amended complaint. dfoRemoval at 5; Def.'s Opp'n at 13. This s3g
information was contained in the original complaBéeNot. of Removal, Ex. A-1. Because defend
could have determined removability based on thi@irtomplaint and did not file for removal withi
30 days after service of the initial complaint, the defendant's motion to remove was ur

Accordingly, the Court GRANTS plaintiff's motion to remand.

Il. Plaintiff's Motion for Attorney’s Fees

Plaintiff seeks an award oftarneys fees and costs incuriadnoving for remand. “An orde
remanding the case may require payment of juss @vgt any actual expenses, including attorney |
incurred as a result of the removal.” 28 U.S.C4487(c). “Absent unusual circumstances, courts

award attorney’s fees under § 1447(c) where thevarg party lacked an objectively reasonable b
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for seeking removal. Conversely, when an objedtivedsonable basis exists, fees should be denjed.

Martin v. Franklin Capital Corp 546 U.S. 132, 141 (2005). The Counidf that attorney’s fees are

inappropriate in this case, and therefore, plaintiff’s motion for fees is DENIED.

CONCLUSION
For all the foregoing reasons, plaintiff’s motiimremand this case to state court is GRANT

and plaintiff's motion for fees is DENIED.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: December 16, 2013

uan Ml

SUSAN ILLSTON
United States District Judge
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